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Statement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a proposal for assessnment of civil
penalty filed by the petitioner pursuant to Section 110(a) of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U S.C. 820(a),
seeking a penalty assessnent for an all eged violation of
mandat ory safety standard 30 CFR 77. 1300.

Respondent filed a tinmely answer in the proceedi ngs denyi ng
the all eged violation, and pursuant to notice a hearing was
convened in Morgantown, West Virginia, on April 22, 1982, and the
parties appeared and participated fully therein. The parties
wai ved the filing of witten post-hearing argunments, but were
af forded an opportunity to make oral closing argunents on the
record, and | have considered these argunments in the course of
t hi s deci sion.

| ssues

The principal issues presented in this proceeding are: (1)
whet her respondent has viol ated the provisions of the Act and
i npl enenting regul ations as alleged in the proposal for
assessnment of civil penalty filed in this proceeding, and, if so,
(2) the appropriate civil penalty that should be assessed agai nst
the respondent for the alleged violation based upon the criteria
set forth in section 110(i) of the Act. Additional issues raised
by the parties are identified and di sposed of in the course of
t hi s deci sion.
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In determ ning the amount of a civil penalty assessnment, section

110(i) of the Act requires consideration of the follow ng

criteria:

(1) the operator's history of previous violations, (2)

t he appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business
of the operator, (3) whether the operator was negligent, (4) the
effect on the operator's ability to continue in business, (5) the
gravity of the violation, and (6) the denonstrated good faith of
the operator in attenpting to achi eve rapid conpliance after
notification of the violation

Appl i cabl
1

e Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, P.L.

95-164, 30 U.S.C 0801 et seq.

2.

3.

The
Novenber
for an al
77.1300.

Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U.S.C. [1820(i).
Conmi ssion Rules, 20 CFR 2700.1 et seq.
Di scussi on
civil penalty proposal filed by the petitioner on
18, 1981, seeks a civil penalty assessment of $1, 200,

| eged violation of mandatory safety standard 30 CFR
The citation on which the penalty proposal is based, No.

855434, was issued by MSHA I nspector Ronald B. Marrara on June 8,
1981, and it is an imm nent danger order issued pursuant to
section 107(a) of the Act. The conditions or practices cited by
the inspector are as foll ows:

Expl osi ves and detonators were not bei ng handl ed,
charged, fired, or otherw se used in accordance with
provi sions of 77.1301 through 77.1304 inclusively.

Bl asting operations were being conducted w thout anple
war ni ng gi ven before blasts were fired and w t hout
persons cl eared and renoved or protected from
concussion or flyrock in the blasting area
(77.1301(h)).

Safety fuses 12 inches | ong (approxi mately 45 second

burntinme) was being used in violation of 77.1303(c).
The bl asting area where charged hol es were awaiting
firing, were not guarded or barricaded and posted

agai nst unaut horized entry. |In a pattern of
approximately 17 holes with 15 hol es charged the

bl asting foreman was "getting rid of the water in the
hol es" by dropping a fused capped @Qulf Deta-GEL priner
inthem The 4 men on the drill bench gathered,
unprotected approximately 130 feet fromthe cl osest
hol e that was detonated. There were also 3 nen and
this inspector in the pit area bel ow where such shots
were fired. The inspector observed 2 such shots

(hol es) being detonated. It appears that nunerous such
shots have been fired this day and this is a comon
practice.
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Sti pul ations

The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 4-7):

1. Petitioner's exhibits P-1, P-3, P-4 and P-5, which
are copies of the citation, a nodification to the
citation, a conputer print-out of respondent's history
of prior violations, and a previous section 104(d) (1)
order issued on January 6, 1981, may all be admitted as
part of the record in this case.

2. Paynment of the maxi mumcivil penalty assessnment in
this case will not adversely affect respondent's
ability to remain in business.

3. Respondent's annual coal production in 1980 was
253,813 tons, and respondent has approxi mately 54
enpl oyees on its payroll

4. Respondent is a small-to-nediumsized m ne
operator.

Testinmony and evi dence adduced by the petitioner

MSHA | nspector Ronald B. Marrara testified that he has been
enpl oyed as a surface coal mne inspector for approximtely five
years and that prior to that tine, between 1974 and 1977, was
enpl oyed as a foreman with the Conet Coal Company in Ki ngwood
West Virginia. During his tenure as an inspector, he has taken
training courses in surface blasting and expl osi ve techni ques and
safety. He confirmed that he was at the mne in question on June
8, 1981, to conduct a spot inspection and to abate a previously
issued citation. He arrived at the site at approximately 9:45
a.m, and while on the road leading to the 7500 Pit, he
encountered a bul |l dozer operator working on the road. He advised
the worker that he was there to nake an inspection, and at about
the sane tine foreman Kernmt Galloway approach him He advi sed
M. Galloway that he was there to make a spot inspection and to
abate a previous citation, and M. Glloway told himto "go
ahead"”, but that he did not have tine to acconpany him (Tr.

8-11).

M. Marrara stated that after leaving M. Gall oway, he
decided to walk into the site rather than to drive and disturb
the dozer operator's road work. At approximately 9:54 while
wal ki ng al ong the pit high wall area, he heard two expl osions go
off and material was thrown into the air. The expl osions took
pl ace above the high wall on a drill bench area where hol es were
being drilled and shot. He was alnpbst directly under the hol es
when they went off, and he then went back to his vehicle and
drove to the pit. He arrived there at 10:00 a.m, and found four
peopl e working on the "drill bench". M. Donald Jordan, the
bl asting foreman, was supervising the work of two drill operators
and one blasting helper. After arriving there, M. Jordan
advised himthat they "were getting rid of water in the hol es by
droppi ng a fused capped prinmer". The prinmer was a one-pound Gulf



Deta-CGel priner with a safety fuse and cap. He
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determ ned that the crew which was present were 145 feet fromthe
furthest hol e which had been detonated, and they were in front of
a punp truck. M. Marrara observed approximately 17 holes in the
area, 15 of which were charged and prined in some way, with
electrical wires running out of the holes, and some of the holes
were fully charged with AMFO, an anmonia nitrate fertilizer

m xture which is used as an explosive. (Tr 12-15). M. Jordan
stated to himthat he was using twelve inches of fuse, with an
approxi mate burn tinme of 45 seconds (Tr. 12-15).

M. Marrara testified further that he observed no warni ng
signs or barricades at the detonation site, heard no horns
sounding a warning to persons that blasting was taking place, and
no one was "cleared of the area”. He therefore advised M.
Jordan that he was issuing a section 107(a) inm nent danger order
because of what he observed, and he identified a copy of the
order which he issued (Tr. 15-19). He believed that the fuses
bei ng used were too short because the | aw specifies that a fuse
burn tine should be a mninmmof two mnutes, and M. Jordan
confirmed that the actual burn tinme for the fuses he was using
was actually 40 seconds per foot. He should have been using a
36-inch fuse in order to conply with the required safety
standard. M. Marrara believed that the operator was negligent
and that M. Jordan was aware of the fact that he was in
violation by placing his crew in such hazardous conditions (Tr.
20).

M. Marrara identified a copy of his inspector's statenent
(Exh. P-2), which he prepared at the tine of the inspection. In
regard to his notation on this formthat "this type of violation
occurs frequently", he explained that he had previously issued a
January 6, 1981, unwarrantable failure citation to the respondent
for a blasting violation (Exh. P-5), and at that tinme he had
reviewed the blasting laws with M. Jordan. 1In addition, shortly
after the imm nent danger order issued, M. Galloway cane to the
scene and stated to himthat "this was a conmon practice that was
bei ng conducted at this operation”. The "conmon practice" being
getting rid of water in the holes by blasting (Tr. 21-22).

M. Marrara stated that M. Jordan admtted that he did not
| ook over the high wall prior to the blasting, and when he asked
hi m whet her he was aware of the fact that he was in violation and
was exposing his nmen to a hazard, M. Jordan nodded his head
affirmatively and stated "I guess so" (Tr. 25). M. Mrrara also
indicated that at the time he issued the previous citation he had
a lengthy discussion with M. Jordan concerning the requirenents
of the standards dealing with blasting. He also discussed the
regul ations with the mne owers at that time (Tr. 26).

M. Marrara believed that the conditions he cited in his
i mm nent danger order were serious in that he reasonably expected
sonmeone to be killed or injured "right in front of my eyes". He
observed fine material being thrown into the air at the tinme of
t he expl osions in question, and he was some 150 feet away. He
believed that the three men in the pit area, as well as the four
men on the drill bench, and hinself, were all directly exposed to



t he hazardous conditions he cited. He was concerned
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that the blasted naterials throw in the area could fall on
sonmeone, and they could also fall down the charged hol es and set
themoff. In addition, a quick novenment of air could generate
static electricity and possibly set off the entire shot (Tr.
26-31).

M. Marrara stated that he determ ned through observation
that some of the filled holes were charged, prinmed, and had
filters in them After the order issued at approxi mately 10: 05
a.m, drilling operations ceased, and the nmen were assenbled at a
di stance past the punp truck. He then discussed the violation
and the applicable safety standards with the nmen, and al so
present were M. Jordan and M. Galloway. M ne Owner Darrel
Tichnell arrived during the latter part of the discussion, and
after warning signs were posted, M. Marrara abated the order at
approximately 10:24 a.m, and the men went back to work. He
confirnmed that the order issued for a violation of section
77.1300, but that there were "three or four separate problens”
(Tr. 32-36).

On cross-exam nation, M. Mrrara confirnmed that on June 8,
1981, he did not first stop at the mne office, as is his usua
practice, prior to entering the mne prem ses. He also confirned
that the ground around the drill holes in the blasting area was
"wet around the holes", but that no puddl es of water were
present. Based on these observations, he concluded that the
wat er had cone out of the holes. M. Marrara described the
m ni ng procedures, and confirmed that in a surface mning
operation the top soil and overburden is renoved, |eaving an
exposed cut-out area in the side of the hill. He confirned that
t he detonations occurred in the high wall drill bench area and
not down in the pit area where the coal is found, and he
descri bed the physical characteristics of the area in question
(Tr. 36-44). |In determning the depth of the holes he observed,
M. Marrara stated that he did not test them but sinply
concl uded that they were about 45-to-50 feet deep. A normal
charge for holes of this size would be about 800 pounds of
expl osive (Tr. 45). Assuming that the hole was 145 feet deep
and it was charged with 800 pounds of explosive, M. Mrrara
conceded that there would be no surface subsi dence other than the
material comng directly out of the hole. By the sane token
usi ng a one pound charge in that same hole, the nost probable
possibility is that water and | oose rock material will cone
practically straight up out of the hole (Tr. 47-48).

Wth regard to the materials that he observed com ng out of
t he hol es which were detonated on June 8, M. Marrara conceded
that from where he was standing 150 feet away all that he could
see com ng out of the holes was the mst fromthe water and the
dust in general (Tr. 49). The workers in the pit area were al so
standi ng approxi mately 150 feet away, but those persons up on the
bench were much cl oser, and he was unaware that any particles
fromthe expl osions touched them No one conpl ained that they
had been touched by any materials comng fromthe holes, and no
one was injured (Tr. 51).



M. Marrara confirned that the blasting standards require
the use of a 36-inch fuse with a two-mnute burn tine, regardl ess
of whether a hole is |oaded with 800 pounds of explosive or one
pound. The purpose
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of the burn tine is to allow the person lighting the fuse
sufficient time to get away fromthe area. He conceded that
lighting such a fuse or explosive that is openly exposed on the
surface i s nuch nore dangerous than dropping it down a 145 foot
hole (Tr. 52). He also confirmed that on the day in question, a
one- pound charge was bei ng dropped down 45 foot holes for the
pur pose of blowi ng out the water at the bottom of the hole, and
not for the purpose of disturbing the rock strata (Tr. 53).

M. Marrara conceded that msfiring of charges is critical
and that froma safety standpoint, an operator has to nake
certain that every charge goes off, rather that having msfired
charges lying around (Tr. 53). He described the procedures used
to load the holes for detonation, and confirmed that the operator
wants to get water out of the hole because water used with AVFO
will not explode, and it is commopn practice in the mning
industry to try to get dry holes before blasting. However, M.
Marrara stated that there are other explosives avail able which do
not require the blasting of water out the hole. However, using
the type of explosive that the operator in this case opted to use
was not illegal, and he conceded that they nust strive for a dry
hole and that it is dangerous to | eave expl osives which had not
been properly detonated at the bottom of a hole is dangerous (Tr.
54-57).

M. Marrara stated that on all occasions prior to June 8,
the operator used a punp to punp the holes dry, but he denied
that the punp was broken that day. |In addition, he stated that
M. Glloway told himthat when the punps were down, it was
common practice to blast water fromthe holes, but that both M.
Jordan and M. Galloway advised himlater in the day that the
punp was not broken. Since the citation issued, the operator no
| onger blasts water from holes, and uses the punps excl usively
for this task (Tr. 59). Al though conceding that the water bl asted
fromthe holes on June 8, cane back down to rest three to five
feet fromthe holes, he still believed that the drill bench crew,
standing 130 feet away, were still not a safe distance, even
t hough he coul d not observe an debris com ng out of the holes
(Tr. 60).

Regarding his prior unwarrantable failure citation, M.
Marrara confirmed that it concerned a pick-up truck with properly
inflated tires running over a blasting cap placed in a charged
hol e and he conceded that there have been no similar incidents at
the mne (Tr. 61). However, he indicated that he has no
know edge concerning the respondent’'s past safety record (Tr.

62) .

In response to further questions, M. Marrara stated that it
was his understanding that M. Jordan lit two 40-second fuses at
a tine, dropped the charges down the holes, and then ran over to
the area where the other nmenbers of the crew were standing. He
identified a sketch of the area (Exh. P-6), which basically
descri bes and diagrans the scene as he observed it. He believed
the procedure used to light the charges would contribute the the
gravity of the violations, since M. Jordan could stunble while



| eaving the area, or he could beconme disoriented and drop the
charge down a | oaded hole which is not stemmed (Tr. 63-66).
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In response to bench questions, M. Marrara stated that his
princi pal concern on June 8, was the hazardous conditions which
prevailed as a result of the method used to bl ow water out of the
holes in question. He conceded that the practice of bl ow ng
wat er out of holes by means of perm ssible explosives is not per
se a violation. Further, the use of AMFO as an explosive is
i kewi se not a violation. However, he believed that a better way
was to use punps rather than explosives, and he reiterated that
bl asting water out of holes is not in and of itself a violation
of any mandatory standard. Hi s concern was over the fact that no
war ni ngs had been sounded and no barricades had been erected (Tr.
71-73). He was also influenced by the fact that M. Gall oway
stated that this was a "frequent practice” (Tr. 75). He also
indicated that at the time he abated the prior unwarrantable
citation, he went over all of the provisions of the blasting
standards with M. Jordan (Tr. 79-80). At the tinme he observed
the instant conditions on June 8, sone of the holes were charged
to break up the overburden, and while the hol es were charged, he
conceded that the charge wires were not connected to the blasting
machi ne and were shunted. Even though they were shunted, he
still believed that static electricity could have possibly set
the charges off. He conceded that a sign indicating "blasting in
progress” was posted at the site in question (Tr. 86). Even if a
fuse |l onger than the one used was being used by M. Jordan, he
woul d still be concerned over the fact that the crew would stil
be exposed to small flying materials (Tr. 88).

M. Marrara stated that he cited a violation of section
77.1300 on the face of his order, but that in his description of
the conditions and practices, his intent was to charge the
respondent for violations of sections 77.1301 through 77.1304,
whi ch section 77.1300 i ncorporates by reference. He stated that
he di scussed each condition cited with M. Jordan, as well as
m ne operator Darrell Titchnell. He conceded that he failed to
cite a specific violation of section 77.1303(g) for |ack of
barri cades, and he dismissed this as a "m stake" on his part. He
al so conceded that the "conditions or practices"” recited in his
order came from what he observed and fromwhat M. Jordan and the
crewtold him(Tr. 88-94).

M. Marrara conceded that the possibility of materi al
bl asted froma hole with a one pound charge falling into a hole
next to it and detonating it was inprobable, and he has never
known this to happen (Tr. 98). He also conceded that static
electricity igniting properly charged holes was a very rare
occasion (Tr. 98). He estimated that a safe distance for people
to be in the event all of the holes in question were charged with
800 pounds of explosives each would be 2,000 feet if they were
out in the open and unprotected (Tr. 100). However, in the event
one shot was put off with one pound of explosive, 130 feet would
be sufficient, assumng the nen were protected by sone structure
(Tr. 102). In his view, if the men were under a piece of
equi prent, he woul d consider themto "be protected" under the
safety standard (Tr. 103). He conceded that at no tine did he
ascertain that respondent's nm ne managenment or supervisors had
instructed M. Jordan not to use a 36-inch fuse (Tr. 107).
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Al t hough signs were posted at the entrance to the property
stating that the blasting was taking place, there were none
posted at the actual blasting area where charged hol es were
awaiting fireing, nor were any barricades erected (Tr. 109).
Section 77.1303(g) requires the posting of signs and the
errection of barricades in the i medi ate area where the charged
hol es were located (Tr. 110). He did not consider M. Jordan's
presence at the blasting site to be a suitable "guard" or
barricade, nor did he consider the signs at the mne entrance to
be a sufficient warning since anyone could drive directly up to
the bench site where the charged holes and bl asti ng was taking
place (Tr. 112).

Testinmony and evi dence adduced by the respondent

Donald E. Jordan testified that he is enployed by the
respondent as a drill operator, but at the tinme the citation
i ssued he was a shot foreman. He described the duties as a shot
foreman, and stated that he served as an expl osives supervisor
for the respondent for sonme 11 years and has a blasting |icense
i ssued by the State of Pennsylvania. A license is issued based
on training and experience, and he confirned that he was
supervising the blasting operations on the day M. Marrara issued
the citation in question. He identified a copy of the sketch of
the scene (Exh. P-6), and agreed that it generally depicts the
approxi mate positions of the holes being drilled that day. He
expl ai ned the procedures he foll owed for detonating the holes,
and indicated that all of themhad been drilled 108 feet deep for
t he purpose of blasting up the overburden so that it could be
renoved. His intent was to blast the area in the rock strata
i medi ately above the location of the coal. He was present when
nost of the holes were bored and | oaded with expl osives, and was
in the process of |oading the holes and stemr ng them when he
first observed M. Marrara (Tr. 123-129).

M. Jordan expl ai ned that sone of the hol es contained
underground rain water, and he expl ained how he attenpted to
renove that water by blasting. He confirned that m ne managenent
had never instructed himas to the length of the fuses to be
used, and confirmed that on the day in question he was using a
fuse and a cap and a one pound stick of Delta Jell to blowthe
water out of the holes. He described the Delta Jell as two
inches in dianeter and ei ght inches |ong, and wei ghi ng one pound.
The charge was dropped down the hol es, which were five and
five-eights inches in diameter, and they were dropped to the
bottom of the holes where the water was located. He and his
hel per both lit the Delta Jell together, and each of them would
go to two different holes |located fifteen feet apart, drop them
down the holes and then | eave the area. The resulting bl ast
woul d propel "muddy water" out of the holes, spreading it about
six or eight feet around the holes (Tr. 130-137).

M. Jordan stated that at the tinme the holes in question
were bl asted, he believed his enpl oyees were at a safe distance
away, and that after he and his hel per dropped the charges down
the holes they retreated
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t hrough an unobstructed path back to the truck. He and his

hel per made their way to the truck for a distance of 130 feet and
"stood there awhile before it went off" (Tr. 139). The force of
the blasts propelled water sone 50 feet in the air fromthe
surface, and it cane straight down in a circunference of sonme six
feet around the hole. He recalled seeing no other debris or

rock, other than dust, being propelled out of the hole (Tr.
139-141). In his view, none of the one-pound expl osives used in
the 108 foot deep holes could have jarred or caused the other
charged holes to explode, and his opinion in this regard was
based on the fact that the primed and charged holes were fifteen
feet apart (Tr. 143). Prior to the setting off of the charges,
he woul d have signaled the nmen in sone fashion, as is his usua
practice, and his crew were all experienced mners. Wen he
dropped the charges down the hole, he had no way of know ng that

I nspector Marrara was on the prem ses, and in his view, he was
not within any dangerous proximty of the one-pound charge (Tr.
146-147). However, his presence on the coal pit, had the entire
shot of all the holes gone off, would have placed himin danger
since he was directly bel ow the shot. However, he did not see
M. Marrara, and the other nmen in the pit were sone 294 feet from
where the water was shot out of the holes (Tr. 148).

M. Jordan stated that blasting shelters are sonetines used
on the site, but that a common practice is to use vehicles for
protection. In response to a question concerning any hazards, he
stated as follows (Tr. 149):

Q Except for the length of the fuse that was used, by
you and your hel per, was there anything that you or
your hel per or anyone in the area did that considered a
hazard to their own or other people's health and
safety? Except M. Marrara. Not counting M. Marrara
was there anybody there doing anything that was

carel ess aside fromthe length of the fuse?

A. Not to ny know edge.

Regarding the use of a punp to renove water fromthe hol es,
M. Jordan stated on the day in question it was either "broke
down or plugged, | don't renenber", and he nade the decision to
bl ast the water out (Tr. 154). He also indicated that it was an
"acceptabl e practice"” in the mning industry to use smal
expl osi ve charges to renmove water froma drill hole (Tr. 155).
Al t hough M. Marrara subsequently advised himthat he could use
this method as long as three foot fuses were used, other safety
i nspectors told the mne owners that water could not be bl asted
out of hol es under any circunstances (Tr. 156). He could not
recall M. Marrara discussing the Iength of fuses with himduring
the tine he issued the previous citation for a pick-up running
over a charged hole.
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M. Jordan confirnmed that he nmade the decision to use a one-foot
fuse on June 8, 1981, because he believed this would allow him
and his hel per enough tolerance to get away fromthe hol e once
t he charge was dropped in, and to his know edge respondent has
never had any industrial mning accidents, and he believes the
conpany has a good safety record (Tr. 157-158). M. Jordan
stated that before placing off the "big charge", he would have
sounded a horn device, but that this is not normally done for
smal | charges to dispel water froma hol e because everyone within
the proximty of the charge is within sight and woul d know t hat
it was going to be shot (Tr. 168).

On cross-exam nation, M. Jordan could not recall the tota
nunber of holes, and doubted that half of themwere filled with
water. On the day in question, he believed that only two hol es
were bl asted and these were the ones that the inspector heard.

He confirmed that fromwhere he was standing he did not see M.
Marrara in the pit at the tine the holes were blasted, and
conceded that he did not ook into the pit imediately prior to
the blasting, nor did he give any warnings in the pit area. He
al so conceded that he used a foot-long fuse to set off the
charges in question, and indicated that he was taught to use 12
inch fuses by M. Darwin Titchnell, one of the m ne owners. M.
Jordan al so confirmed that he had received expl osives training in
Pennsyl vani a, that he holds a blaster's license fromthe State,
but stated that his know edge of the use of fuses is what he

| earned from M. Titchnell. Although M. Marrara di scussed the
use of proper fuses with himat the time the citation in question
here was issued, M. Jordan could not recall M. Mirrara

di scussing this with himon the prior occasion when he issued a
citation (Tr. 168-175).

M. Jordan identified a copy of a sketch of the area where
t he bl asting was taking place (Exh. P-6), and conceded that no
signs were posted in the i mediate area where the holes in
question were drilled. He considered that to be the "shot area"
and he indicated that signs have been posted in the past, and
this would be on the road 300 or 400 feet away. On the day in
guestion, he observed no | arge debris conme out of the hol es which
were blasted. He confirned that he is presently enployed as a
drill operator, which is a "step up" froma shot foreman, and he
no | onger supervises. He requested to be reassigned because of
"the aggravation of that worrying about just having everything up
to specifications. Meeting the law' (Tr. 182).

In response to further questions, M. Jordan stated that he
did not believe that any debris fromthe bl asted water hol es
could set off the other charged hol es because they were stenmed
and covered. In addition, since the cap wires were shunted, he
considered themto be safe. He conceded that had a sign been
posted at the "shot area", the inspector would be unable to see
it until he was alnost at the shot, and he al so indicated that
the inspector could not have seen it fromwhere he was | ocated
prior to the tine the shot went off. He also indicated that 12
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inch fuses are not used to bl ast overburden because nore tine is
required to get away fromflying materials, but he does not
bel i eve that using such fuses to blast water out of a hole is
danger ous, but conceded that a premature shot woul d be serious.
He does not |ike using | onger fuses for shooting water because
t he caps have | onger to become wet and several msfires have
occurred because of this. He conceded that had punps been used,
m sfires would not be a problemand the citation probably woul d
not have issued. However, the | aw does not require the use of
punps (Tr. 182-192).

M. Jordan stated further that since there was 15 feet of
solid rock between in each | oaded shot, and each hole was 108
feet deep, he did not believe the | oaded hol es coul d have been
set off by the blast which occurred. He explained how he stenmed
and covered the holes, and he did not believe that such a hole
charged with 800 pounds of expl osive could possibly have set al
of the others off (Tr. 196).

Kermt Galloway, general superintendent, testified that he
has observed the manner in which water was renoved from hol es by
M. Jordan. He indicated that no one has ever been injured
during any blasting at the mne, and safety is always of prine
concern. He indicated that he usually acconpani ed the inspector
during his rounds, and that he would stop by the office. Hoever,
on the day in question he met himat the "backfill", and he did
not first stop at the office. Had he stopped by the office, he
coul d have radi oed ahead to any areas where bl asting was taking
place to alert the crews that he was in their area. He indicated
that it has always been a common practice to shoot water out of
hol es. The punps were purchased in 1976, and on the day the
citation was issued the punp was either broken down or plugged,
but he could not recall. He has never been instructed as the
I ength of fuse to use for small charges, and that the el ectronic
method is used for major charges. The only time fuses are lit
with matches is when water is blown out of a hole, and M.
Marrara has never discussed this procedure with him He still
considers the practice to be safe, but since the citation issued,
punps are used exclusively to dispel water fromholes (Tr.

201- 215) .

On cross-exam nation, M. Glloway confirmed that when he
first encountered M. Marrara at the site, he did not ask himto
report to the office, and sinply told himto go where he had to
but that he did not have the tine to go with him(Tr. 221). M.
Gal | onay knew that the holes were being cleared of water by
bl asting, but did not tell M. Mirrara because he did not
consider it dangerous. A sign was posted on a road, but the
i nspector cane in by a different one (Tr. 222). He did not
consider that M. Marrara was in any danger when he headed to the
pit to check on an abatement for a citation issued on a broken
wi ndshield (Tr. 226).

Rebuttal w tness

MSHA | nspector Charles J. Bush, testified that prior to his



ten-year enploynment with MSHA, he was enpl oyed as a resident
engi neer by the Consolidation Coal Conpany. He testified as to
his training regarding
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saf e expl osive practices, and indicated that he holds an
instructor's certificate in explosives and has taught courses in
the subject (Tr. 244). In answer to a hypothetical question as
to the probability or possibility of a one pound charge pl aced
into a 108 deep hol e detonating other fully charged hol es | ocated
within 15 feet, M. Bush stated that "it is probable” (Tr. 249).
He explained his answer, and indicated that it was possible for
t he ot her charged holes to be detonated by the concussion of the
initial first one-pound charge, and he indicated that "the
probability is there" (Tr. 252).

Wth regard to the actual distance of 130 feet that the nen
in question were standing fromthe two water holes which were
bl asted on the day the citation i ssued, and whether they were a
safe distance, M. Bush candidly adnmitted that "I've got to say
that was a pretty substantial distance, for those two bore hol es
in general"™ (Tr. 253). However, had the fully charged hol es al
gone off, the 130 feet would not be sufficient because there are
to many variables. In his view, a half-mle distance would not
be safe if a total of 4500 pounds of explosives were used (Tr.
255).

On cross-exam nation, M. Bush confirmed that w nd
conditions will effect the direction of any materials com ng out
of a blasted hole, and that anyone standing 130 feet fromthe
hol e whi ch was charged to blast out the water would be at a safe
di stance (Tr. 258). M. Bush also confirned that he has been at
the mne site in question, but has not exam ned the rock strata
at the location where the shots in question were fired, nor has
he i nspected the site since 1976 (Tr. 262). He confirned that it
was hi ghly probable that one of the charged hol es where the water
was | ocated coul d have detonated the other charged hol es, and
when asked why it didn't on the day in question, he answered
"Lucky, this time" (Tr. 260).

M. Bush indicated that his prior experience includes ten
years of demolition duty with the City of Pittsburgh, and stated
that he has never lit a one pound charge with a fuse 12 inches or
shorter, and that he has always used 36 inch fuses. He confirnmed
that he assisted in the drafting of the nandatory safety standard
inissue in this case, and stated that he has never seen anyone
shoot water out of holes in Preston County (Tr. 262).

In response to bench questions as how he woul d propose to
di spel water froma hole, M. Bush stated that water gel slurries
may be used, but they are expensive. He also indicated that
MSHA' s techni cal personnel can assist a mne operator if he has a
water problem He indicated that blasting water out of a hole
with AMFOis not a violation of any mandatory standard per se,
but that doing so with adjacent holes being charged adds to the
gravity of the situation (Tr. 268). He also conceded that no one
has determ ned precisely what a safe distance is when bl asting
hol es, and whil e conceding that he had no know edge of the rock
strata at the blasting site, his prior opinion as to a safe
di stance was based on "past experience" (Tr. 269-270).



M. Bush stated that had he been in Inspector Marrara's
position, and faced with the sane conditions, he too woul d have
i ssued an i mm nent danger order, and that his concern woul d have
been over the safety of the nen at the site in the event the rest
of the holes were set off. Even if the other 15 charged hol es
were not present, he would still consider
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it an i mm nent danger because the man lighting the short 12 inch
fuse and dropping the charge in the hole would be in danger (Tr.
271-273). Wen asked whether the use of a 36-inch fuse would al so
be a hazard, he responded as follows (Tr. 272-274):

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Sinply dropping a one pound charge down
a hole to dispel water with a thirty-six inch fuse
woul d be a hazard?

THE WTNESS: To ne | think it would still be a hazard

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Well, wouldn't the operator be in
conpl i ance?

THE WTNESS: Yes, sir, | know he woul d

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: But, why then, with that thinking then
the operator could never get rid of water by using a
charge? Even using a thirty-six inch fuse.

THE WTNESS: Mst of your explosive manufacturers
consider this as a bad practice, to get water out of a
hol e.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Then why doesn't MSHA promul gate a
standard that says, thou shalt not get water out of a
hol e usi ng any expl osive device, period?

THE WTNESS: W have on different instances submtted
our nenos and recomendati ons whi ch MSHA has asked for,

fromall different districts, | think several different
areas that it was brought about, in reference to
Kent ucky and Tennessee, these past couple nonths. It's

hard to get sonething substantial to cover all phases
of expl osi ves.

Petitioner's argunents

At the close of the hearing, petitioner's counsel sunmed up
his case by asserting that |Inspector Marrara found a set of
ci rcunstances in connection with the blasting of water out of
hol es that violated certain specific standards under section
77.1300. A violation occurred when the respondent used fuses of
i nproper length during the blasting, nanely, 12 inch fuses rather
than the required 36 inch fuses. |In addition, failure by the
respondent to give any warnings prior to the shots being
detonated al so constituted a violation, as well as the failure to
post a sign at the blasting site (Tr. 281-282).

Respondent' s argunents

Wth regard to the | ack of any warni ngs, respondent argued
that it is clear that warnings were given to everyone in close
proximty to the expl osive charge, since it is obvious that M.
Jordan's crew was
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participating in the blasting itself and were verbal | y warned.
In addition, it is clear that signs were posted in accordance
with the requirenents of the standards (Tr. 283).

Concerning the use of the fuses in question, respondent's
counsel conceded that the regul ations specifically require the
use of 36-inch fuses, and that M. Jordan was using 12-inch
fuses. However, given all of the prevailing circunstances,
counsel views this violation as a "technical" violation commtted
by M. Jordan, who by experience and judgnent believed that the
use of 12-inch fuses to bl ow water out of a hole was safe. He
al so pointed out that the men were at a safe distance fromthe
two hol es which detonated, and that MSHA's w t ness Bush agreed
that this was the case (Tr. 284).

Respondent' s counsel argued further that the only thing that
makes this situation concerning the blasting of holes an
"imm nent danger"” in the eyes of the inspector, is MSHA's "theory
and specul ation" as to the probabilities of the other charged
hol es bei ng detonated by one charge. However, counsel points out
that the practice utilized by M. Jordan to dispel water froma
hol e was designed to result in a conplete, free, and unobstructed
"straight-up"” shot froma hole 108 feet deep. There is no
credi bl e evidence as to the rock formations, strata, or whether
the pit area would have affected by any premature charge going
off (Tr. 286).

Wth respect to M. Marrara's clains that he had previously
advi sed the respondent about the requirenent for using 36-inch
fuses, counsel points out that M. Jordan testified that this
conversation took place after the instant citation issued. G ven
all of the circunstances of this case, counsel maintained that
the proposed civil penalty is excessive and exorbitant, and that
a fine of $25 or $50 woul d be nore appropriate (Tr. 287).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violation

As stated earlier in this decision, GCtation No. 855434 is
an "inmm nent danger"” order issued by the inspector pursuant to
section 107(a) of the Act. The inspector subsequently nodified
the citation to show that it was also a citation issued pursuant
to section 104(a). The validity of the order itself, that is,
whet her the inspector was correct in his judgnent that the
conditions he cited in fact constituted an i mm nent danger is not
inissue in this case. Any hazard or danger connected with a
violation of any mandatory safety standard will be dealt with in
connection with nmy gravity findings.

I nspector Marrara conceded that the use of explosives to
di spel water fromdrilled holes is not per se a violation of any
mandat ory safety standard. Hs concern was that the respondent
did this as a "regular practice" and the inspector believed that
a better way of drying out the holes was through the use of
punps. However, on the facts
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presented in this case, the manner in which the respondent was
drying out the holes is not a significant issue, unless of course
the petitioner can establish that in the course of the blasting
the respondent violated certain nandatory safety standards.

In its proposal for assessnent of civil penalty filed in
this case, the petitioner sought a civil penalty for "each
all eged violation set forth in attached Exhibit A'. Exhibit "A"
is a copy of MSHA Form 1000-179, which is the proposed assessnent
served on the respondent. That formreflects that MSHA's O fice
of Assessnents waived the normal assessment procedures found in
Part 100, Title 30, Code of Federal Regulations, and "specially
assessed" a civil penalty in the amount of $1200 for the citation
in question. That "special assessnent” was nade on an all eged
vi ol ati on of nmandatory safety standard section 77.1300, and the
"narrative findings" of the assessnment officer reflects that the
civil penalty assessnent |evied by himwas nade on the basis of
his "special findings" connected with an alleged violation of
section 77.1300. In short, MSHA's Ofice of Assessnments treated
the conditions or practices described on the face of the citation
as one violation of section 77.1300. However, during the
hearing, Inspector Marrara testified that his intent was to
charge the respondent with separate violations of sections
77.1301 through 77.1304, in addition to section 77.1300, a
general standard which incorporates section 77.1301 through
77.1304 by reference. Under these circunstances, it is first
necessary to determ ne precisely what the respondent has been
charged with in this case

The "conditions or practices” described by Inspector Marrara
on the face of the citation which he issued contains a narrative
of certain conditions and practices which he observed. The "part
and section" of the law cited by M. Marrara on the face of the
citation formis section 77.1300, and that is the section cited
by the petitioner in its proposal for assessnent of civil
penalty. MSHA's initial assessment was nmade on the basis of an
al l eged violation of that section by the respondent. However, in
the narrative description of the "conditions or practices"
descri bed by the inspector on the citation form M. Mrrara
inserted references to nandatory standard sections 77.1303(h) and
77.1303(u), and these are shown as foll ows:

Bl asting of pit holes were being conducted without
anpl e warni ng given before blasts were fired and

wi t hout persons cleared and renoved or protected from
concussion or flyrock in the blasting area
(77.1303(h)).

Safety fuses 12 inches | ong (approxi mately 45 second
burntinme) was being used in violation of 77.1303(u).

In addition, the citation states that "the blasting area
where charged holes were awaiting firing, were not guarded or
barri caded and posted agai nst unaut horized entry.” Al though M.
Marrara did not include a reference to any specific safety
standard, he testified that his intent was to charge the



respondent with a violation of section 77.1303(g), and the
om ssion of a reference to this section was a "n stake" on his
part.
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Section 77.1300, Title 30, Code of Federal Regul ations, provides
in pertinent part as foll ows:

(a) No explosives, blasting agent, detonator, or any
other related blasting device or material shall be
stored, transported, carried, handl ed, charged, fired,
destroyed, or otherw se used, enployed or disposed of
by any person at a coal mne except in accordance wth
the provisions of 77.1301 through 77.1304, inclusive.
Sections 77.1301 through 77.1304 of the standards dealing
wi th bl asting and expl osives contain approxi mtely four pages of
detail ed mandatory safety requirenents dealing with expl osives,
magazi nes, vehicles used to transport expl osives, explosives
handl i ng and use, and special provisions dealing with blasting

agents. Under these circunstances, | believe that it is
i ncunbent on the petitioner to specifically detail inits
proposal for assessment of civil penalty the precise sections of
the standards for which it seeks civil penalty assessnents. In

this case, the petitioner attached an exhibit which is an initial
civil penalty assessnent dealing with section 77.1300, for which
an assessnment of $1200 was levied. |In short, it would appear
fromthe pleadings that the petitioner had one violation in mnd
whil e the inspector who issued the citation had two or three in
m nd when he issued the citation. Under these circunstances, it

i s necessary to determ ne whether the record here supports a
concl usion that the respondent was put on notice as to what it
was being charged with and whether it has had a fair opportunity
to neet those charges.

Al t hough the pleadings and citation issued in this case are
not nodels of clarity, | believe that the record establishes that
t he respondent knew what it was being charged with and has had a
full and fair opportunity to defend itself. While the proposa
for assessnment of civil penalty lists only section 77.1300 on
"Exhibit A", the citation issued by the inspector was included as
part of the pleadings, and the conditions or practices detail ed
in the citation was discussed by the assessnent officer as part
of his "Narrative Findings." |In addition, respondent's answer to
t he proposal for assessment of civil penalty suggests that it was
aware of the charges since respondent specifically entered a
denial as to each of the essential allegations nmade by the
i nspector in the citation. Further, the inspector testified that
he di scussed each of the mandatory safety sections with M.
Jordan and m ne operator Tichnell (Tr. 93), the record here
reflects that respondent has had a full opportunity to
cross-exam ne the inspector and to present testinony and evi dence
in support of its defense, and the respondent has not cl ai nmed
prejudi ce or surprise.

The fact that MSHA opted to treat the conditions and
practices cited by the inspector as one violation rather than
three for purposes of an assessnment of civil penalty has not
prejudi ced the respondent. By the same token, since | am not
bound by MSHA's penalty assessnment procedures, | conclude that
for purposes of ny findings and decision in this case | nmay treat
I may make findings concerning each of the standards cited by the



i nspector and render ny decision accordingly. M findings and
conclusions in this regard foll ow bel ow
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30 CFR 77.1303(u)

Respondent does not dispute the fact that the use of the
twel ve inch fuses by M. Jordan during the blasting of water from
the two hol es which were shot on June 8, 1981, was contrary to,
and in violation of section 77.1303(u), which required the use of
36-inch fuses. Petitioner has established a violation of this
section by a preponderance of the evidence adduced in this case,
and that portion of the citation charging a violation of section
77.1303(u) is AFFI RVED

30 CFR 77.1303(g)

The citation asserts that "the blasting area where charged
hol es were awaiting firing, were not guarded or barricaded and
post ed agai nst unaut horized entry”. Section 77.1303(g) requires
that "Areas in which charged holes are awaiting firing shall be
guarded, or barricaded and posted, or flagged agai nst
unaut hori zed entry."

The term"blasting area" is defined by section 77.2(f) as
"the area near blasting operations in which concussion or flying
mat eri al can reasonably be expected to cause injury". The cited
standard does not use the term"blasting area”; it sinply refers
to areas in which charged holes are awaiting firing. Shot
foreman Jordan testified that while some of the drilled holes
whi ch constituted the "shot" were charged, the hol es were stemmed
and covered and that the cap wires were shunted. He believed
that the i medi ate area where the drilled and charged hol es were
| ocated constituted the "shot area", but that the posting of a
sign at that location would be of no val ue since sonmeone woul d be
"on the shot area" before seeing any such sign

Respondent has established that it had a sign posted on one
of its mne roads indicating that blasting operations were taking
place at the mine. Wile it is true that the inspector may have
used another road to gain access to the mne, it is also true
that he did not check into the mne office before proceeding to
the pit area. Superintendent Galloway testified that had he done
so he woul d have been alerted to his presence near any areas
where bl asting was to be done and he coul d have radi oed the
blasting crewto be alert to the fact that the inspector was near
their operation. Since it was common practice to shoot water out
of a drilled hole with a small charge, M. Galloway did not
bel i eve that the inspector was in any precarious position

On the facts of this case it seens clear to nme that the two
"shots" which were fired caught the inspector off guard and
surprised him He probably would not have been so surprised had
he checked into the mne office before proceeding to the pit
area. M. Jordan testified that he first observed the inspector
while he was in the process of |oading and stemm ng the shot
holes. Since two of the holes contained water, M. Jordan
foll owi ng his usual practice, dropped a one-pound charge down the
holes to dispel the water, and he obviously did not believe the
i nspector was in any jeopardy. The "shots" actually heard by the



i nspector were those fired off by M. Jordan to dispel water from
the holes in question and were not the normal "shots" used to
bl ast over burden.
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Assumi ng that the only blasting operation taking place at the
time the inspector arrived on the scene was the use of a
one- pound charge to di spel water out of a hole, and assum ng
further that the term"area"” used in section 77.1303(g) can be
construed to nmean "blasting area", then I would have to concl ude
that the posting of a sign or barricade was not required since
the evidence here establishes that it was not reasonable to
expect any injuries from concussion or flying material froma one
pound charge. The evidence establishes that the only materi al
di spelled fromthe holes in question was water and sone dirt
whi ch was propelled vertically fromthe holes and fell in close
proximty to the holes. However, since the standard in question
requi res guards, barricades, or posting in areas where charged
holes are awaiting firing, the question presented is whether they
were required in this case.

The facts of this case reflect that no signs, barricades, or
guards were in fact errected at the i medi ate area where the
charged holes were located. The intent of the standard in
requiring such devices is not only to alert persons who may
wander into the area that a shot will be fired, but also to all ow
anyone in close proximty to the shot to seek refuge or
protecti on agai nst any flying debris. Although respondent had
established that a sign was posted al ong one of the roads |eading
into the mne, no signs or barricades or guards were posted in
the i medi ate area where the charged hol es were awaiting firing.
Accordingly, | conclude and find that a violation of section
77.1303(g) occurred and that portion of the citation charging a
violation of this nmandatory safety standard i s AFFI RVED.

30 CFR 77.1303(h)

The citation charges that blasting of pit holes was being
conducted "wi thout anple warning given before blasts were fired
and wi t hout persons cleared and renoved or protected from
concussion or flyrock in the blasting area". Although petitioner
cited section 77.1301 when it filed a typewitten copy of a
"legible citation", the original citation, as confirmed by the
i nspector, cited section 77.1303(h). That section requires an
anpl e warning to be given before blasts are fired. It also
requires that all persons be cleared and renoved fromthe
bl asting area unless suitable blasting shelters are provided to
protect men endangered by concussion or flyrock from bl asti ng.

It is clear fromthe evidence established in this case that
the charged "shot" was not fired or blasted at the tine the
i nspector was on the scene. The only "shot" fired was the two
one- pound expl osions to dispel water fromtwo drilled holes.
Respondent had established that the blasting crew had been
renoved to a safe distance and were standi ng by sonme trucks which
the inspector indicated would suffice as "suitable shelters”.
MSHA | nspector Bush testified that the men standing 130 feet from
the water holes which were blasted were at a safe di stance, and
the facts reflect that the hol es which were blasted only
propelled water vertically out of the holes and that there was no
flyrock or debris thrown out to endanger anyone nearby. As for



any warnings, | accept the fact that the crew had been verbally
instructed to renove thensel ves
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to a safe distance fromthe water holes. Under these

ci rcunstances, | conclude and find that the respondent was in
conpliance and that the petitioner has not established a
violation of section 77.1303(h). Accordingly, that portion of
the citation is VACATED

Si ze of Business and Effect of Cvil Penalties on the
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business.

The parties stipulated that the respondent is a
smal | -t o- medi um operator and that the penalties assessed will not
adversely affect its ability to continue in business. | adopt
these stipulations as ny findings on these issues.

H story of Prior Violations

MSHA' s computer print-out of prior paid civil penalty
assessnents reflects a total of 8 paid citations issued at the
m ne in question for the period June 9, 1979 through June 8,
1981. Considering the size and scope of respondent's m ning
operation, | consider this to be a good safety record not
warranting an additional increase in any penalty assessnents
levied by ne for the citations which | have affirned.

Negl i gence

I conclude and find that the respondent shoul d have been
aware of the requirenents of the cited safety standards, and that
its failure to exerci se reasonable care to prevent the violations
in question constitutes ordinary negligence as to both citations
whi ch | have affirned.

Good Faith Conpliance
Since the violations resulted in a w thdrawal order, good

faith abatenent is really not an issue. Abatenment was apparently
achi eved by the inspector instructing the respondent on the

proper bl asting procedures. 1In any event, the inspector
i ndi cated that abatenent was "normal", and | accept that fact.
Gavity

I conclude that on the facts of this case the failure to
post a sign or otherw se guard the area where the charges were
awaiting firing was a nonserious violation. Here, the shot
foreman had the i medi ate control of his nmen, had pulled them
back to a safe distance, and did all that was reasonable to
assure that no one known to be in the area was in jeopardy as a
result of the blasting of the two water holes in question.

Wth regard to the citation for the failure to use 36-inch
fuses, | conclude and find that this was a serious violation in
that it presented
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a possible hazard and injury to the blasting foreman and his
hel per in that the use of so short a fuse in the event of a

m scal cul ation on their part during the blasting process would
have shortened the tinme for themto react and to retreat to a
safe area.

Penal ty Assessnents
In view of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons,

respondent is assessed civil penalties for the violations which
have been affirned as foll ows:

Citation No. Dat e 30 CFR Sections Assessment
855434 6/ 8/ 81 77.1303(g) $ 25
77.1303(u) 275
$300
ORDER

Respondent 1S ORDERED to pay the civil penalties assessed in
this matter, in the amount shown above, within thirty (30) days
of the date of this decision, and upon receipt of paynent by the
petitioner these proceedi ngs are DI SM SSED.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



